IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

S. Ct. No. 20-0997 Polk Co. No. CVCV060212

JENNIFER ANN ASKVIG,

Appellant,

VS.

SNAP-ON LOGISTICS CO., a/k/a, SNAP-ON TOOLS CORPORATION,

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT IN AND FOR POLK COUNTY Hon. Jeffrey Farrell, JUDGE

APPELLANT'S BRIEF AND ARGUMENT

MARK S. SOLDAT
Mark S. Soldat, PLC
Attorney at Law
3408 Woodland Avenue, Suite 502
West Des Moines, Iowa 50266
Telephone (515) 222-3133
Fax (515) 223-6656
markspslaw@aol.com

ATTORNEY FOR JENNIFER ANN ASKVIG

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. Did the district court err when it determined that the supreme court's supervisory order number 33 and its supplement did not apply to the statute of

limitations for seeking judicial review of an agency's final decision in a contested case?

Iowa Code section 17A.19.

Webster County Board of Supervisors v. Flattery, 268 N.W.2d 869 (Iowa 1978).

II. Did the district court err by not considering whether there had been substantial compliance with Iowa Code section 17A.19(3)?

Rule 876-4.242, I.A.C.

Iowa Code section 17A.19.

Iowa Public Service Company v. Iowa State Commerce Commission, 263 N.W.2d 766 (Iowa 1978).

Kerr v. Iowa Public Service Company, 274 N.W.2d 283 (Iowa 1979).

Ford Motor Company v. Iowa Department of Transportation Reg. Board, 282 N.W.2d 701 (Iowa 1979).

Black v. University of Iowa, 362 N.W.2d 459 (Iowa 1985).

Fort Dodge Security Police v. Iowa Department of Revenue, 414 N.W.2d 660 (Iowa 1987).

Sharp v. Iowa Department of Job Service, 492 N.W.2d 668 (Iowa 1992).

Iowa Code section 17A.23.

Webster's New World College Dictionary, 4th Edition (2010).

- Carolan v. Hill, 553 N.W.2d 882 (Iowa 1996).
- Larson Manufacturing Company Inc. v. Thorson, 763 N.W.2d 842 (Iowa 2009).
- City of Des Moines v. Des Moines Police Bargaining Unit, 360 N.W.2d 729 (Iowa 1985).
- Iowa Code section 17A.16.
- Eaton v. Iowa Employment Appeal Board, 602 N.W.2d 553 (Iowa 1999).
- Collins v. King, 545 N.W.2d 310 (Iowa 1996).
- Barnes v. Iowa Department of Transportation, 385 N.W.2d 260 (Iowa 1986).
- Marcus v. Young, 538 N.W.2d 288 (Iowa 1985).
- *Callendar v. Skiles,* 591 N.W.2d 152 (Iowa 1999).
- Christie v. Rolscreen Co., 448 N.W.2d 447 (Iowa 1989).
- Brown v. John Deere Waterloo Tractor Works, 423 N.W.2d 193 (Iowa 1988).

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case should be retained by the supreme court. It should because it meets the criteria of Iowa R. App. P. Rule 6.1001(2)(c)(d). In the district court, issues were preserved concerning: (i) the supreme court's meaning and application of its 4/02/20 supervisory order number 33 and its 5/22/20 supplement to it; and (ii) the inconsistencies of statutory construction, interpretation, and applications of Iowa Code subsections in 17A.19(2)(3).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On **2/05/20**, the Iowa workers' compensation commissioner, ("commissioner"), filed an appeal decision in the contested case between Jennifer A. Askvig, ("Askvig"), and Snap-On Logistics Company, ("Snap-On"). (app. pp. 4-10.)

On 2/25/20, Askvig filed a rehearing application with the commissioner. (app. pp. 11-42.)

On **5/18/20**, Askvig filed a judicial review petition with the district court in Polk County, ("district court"), (app. pp. 41-42.)

On **6/05/20**, Snap-On filed a pre-answer motion to dismiss Askvig's judicial review petition, (app. pp. 43-60.)

On 6/22/20, a commissioner's delegate certified the agency's contested case records to the district court. (app. pp. 61.)

On **7/03/20**, Askvig filed a resistance to Snap-On's pre-answer motion to dismiss judicial review petition, attached to which was an affidavit. (app. pp. 62-165.)

On **7/09/20**, the district court held an unrecorded hearing concerning the parties' motion and resistance. (app. p. 166-171.)

On **7/09/20**, the district court filed a ruling on motion to dismiss in which it granted the motion to dismiss and assessed the court costs to Askvig. (app. pp. 166-171.)

On **7/29/20**, Askvig filed a notice of appeal to the supreme court from the district court's ruling on motion to dismiss. (app. pp. 172-173.)

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

When Askvig's attorney filed a rehearing application with the commissioner on 2/25/20, he indicated that he had intended "to file a timely judicial review petition...." (app. p. 82.) He did because there were many indications that if the commissioner did not correct the legal errors made in his 2/05/20 decision, a judicial review case would have to be filed in the district court..." (app. p. 11-42.)

By 3/15/20, the commissioner had not granted the [rehearing] application, so it was deemed denied pursuant to Iowa Code section 17A.16(2) and Rule 876-4.24, I.A.C...." (app. p. 174.) By 4/14/20, no judicial review petition had been filed on

behalf of... Askvig as required by Iowa Code section 17A.19(3).... " (app. p. 174.)

"The months of February-April, 2020, were fairly busy months for... [Askvig's attorney]." (app. p. 90; *see also* app. pp. 91-93.) For one thing, the following occurred:

In the middle of February, 2020... [Askvig's attorney] started hearing about a virus which had started in China and which had spread to countries such as Italy and Iran. The virus was discussed and monitored within... [Askvig's attorney's] office throughout the rest of February and into mid-March. However, after the rapidity of its spread became more apparent, in part because... [Askvig's attorney] was so busy.... (app. p. 92.)

Nevertheless, during the work week of 3/16/20-3/20/20, all four members of the law firm took action. They closed the office to the public that week.... [Askvig's attorney's] partner and his legal assistant agreed to shelter themselves and work from home... [Askvig's attorney] decided to continue working from the office. The whole process in... [the] office became altered, confusing, and inefficient. (*Id.*)

Making matters even worse... [Askvig's attorney's] partner's paralegal... caught something which was suspected by a doctor to be Covid-19. She... [was] out of the office ever since that date, ['3/22/20']. She did return, however, in early June for a few hours during a two day span, but she was unable to perform her job. (*Id.*)

This caused even more inefficiency and lack of organization in the firm. As just one of many possible examples, it left... [Askvig's attorney] alone in the office to answer phone calls which otherwise would have been screened if they were unwanted solicitations or taken a message if either partner was occupied at the time.... (*Id.*)

This arrangement also had been difficult for... [Askvig's attorney], personally because he was not technologically savvy... [e]ven having to learn how to send attachments to his assistant to word process. He also did

not have... [his legal assistant] in the office to remind him of upcoming due dates... (app. pp. 92a, 93.)

For another thing, Askvig's attorney also was busy during the months of February-April, 2020 devoting 308.2 hours just on six cases. (app. pp. 90-91.) Additionally, he was busy as follows:

During 2/05/20-5/01/20... [Askvig's attorney] recorded 38 hours on various files with lesser hours in each of them than those itemized above. During this same period... [he] worked 7 days a week, 60-70 hours each week, except on Sunday, 2/09/20, Saturday 2/23/20, and Saturday 3/14/20, all of which days he stayed home and except on 2/13/20-2/14/20 when he attended an IAJ workers' compensation seminar in West Des Moines. During this period, he did not record his hours for when he was doing activities on behalf of the law firm, reading new cases, and doing general research.... (app. pp. 90-91.)

For yet another thing, the following also occurred during the months of February-April, 2020, "the commissioner had implemented an electronic filing system and put it into place in [the] late summer, as well as adopted new hearing rules which moved the last pre-hearing deadline from 30 days before hearing, to 7 days before hearing." (app. p. 90.) This provided another challenge to any attorneys who was "not technologically savvy." (app. p. 92a.)

Accordingly, Askvig's attorney's expressed beliefs that:

Because of the hearing workload prior to and after the office was closed to the public, the failure of the commissioner to respond to the 2/25/20 rehearing application, and the general stresses and confusion of self-sheltering in both the office and at home, both [Askvig's attorney's] legal assistant and he overlooked the fact that the "deemed denied" even had occurred on 3/16/20 and that the judicial review needed to be filed on or before 4/15/20. (app. p. 92a.)

The most... [immediate] causes of this "overlooking" were the 54 hours consumed drafting the Berte brief during 4/09/20-4/10/20, 4/12/20, and 4/17/20-4/21/12 and the Covid-19 disruption of normal processes of monitoring deadlines. Resultantly, 4/15/20 came and went. (*Id.*)

Indeed, it was not until Snap-On's attorney sent... [Askvig's attorney] her 5/05/20 letter, (ex. B, attached to Snap-On's 6/05/20 pre-answer motion to dismiss judicial review petitioner), that he even realized there had been a statutory deadline, let alone one that already had gone by. (*Id.*)

In that **5/05/20** letter, Snap-On conveyed that "[b]y my calculations, the deadline to file an application for judicial review has expired for this matter. Can you please confirm you have not filed an application for judicial review?" (app. p. 54.)

On **5/18/20**, Askvig's attorney responded that based on the supreme court's supervisory orders on 4/14/20 and 5/08/20, "the time for filing a judicial review has not expired... [and enclosed] a copy of the judicial review petition which is being filed today." (app. p. 56.)

Furthermore, Askvig's attorney noted that:

Be that as it may, it was not just [Askvig's attorney's] law firm who had to adjust to the quickly-spreading pandemic. As early as 3/16/20, Chief Justice Christenson issued a letter in which she acknowledged "the **profound impact COVID-19 has placed on our daily lives**... [and stating that she was] interested in hearing about concerns you have." This letter is attached to this affidavit as exhibit 2.

On 3/17/20, the supreme court issued a release in which it informed everyone that it had "<u>issued an order permitting new ways to access courts to prevent the spread of coronavirus</u>." It did so "[f]ollowing [Iowa] <u>Governor Reynolds</u>' State of Public Health Emergency Declaration earlier today." In

this release, it further was <u>stated that</u> "<u>in this time of crisis</u>, <u>the form in which this public service [by the judiciary] is provided must be modified in a manner that allows services to continue</u>...." (app. p. 128-129, *emph. supp.*)

ARGUMENT

Division I

THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED WHEN IT DETERMINED THAT THE SUPREME COURT'S SUPERVISORY ORDER NUMBER 33 AND ITS SUPPLEMENT DID NOT APPLY TO THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS FOR SEEKING JUDICIAL REVIEW OF AN AGENCY'S FINAL DECISION IN A CONTESTED CASE.

<u>Statements Addressing How The Issue Was Preserved For Appellate Review/Scope And Standard Of Appellate Review.</u>

The issue in this division was preserved for appellate review in: the 6/05/20 pre-answer motion to dismiss judicial review petition, plus its attachments, (app. pp. 43-60); the 7/03/20 resistance to pre-answer motion to dismiss judicial review petition, plus its attachments, (app. pp. 62-165); and the 7/09/20 ruling on motion to dismiss, (app. pp. 166-171.)

The scope and standard of appellate review is for corrections of errors at law.

Advocacy. In its 7/09/20 ruling, the district court held inter alia as follows:

The [supreme] court noted that Iowa Code chapter 17A does not include a savings clause, so the failure to file a petition within the timeframe provided in the statute meant that court lacked jurisdiction to consider the petition. *Id.* at 167-68. The court reiterated that "judicial review of administrative agency

action is a special proceeding [and] is in all respects dependent upon the statutes [that] authorize its pursuit." *Id.* (quoting *Anderson v. W. Hodgeman & Sons, Inc.*, 524 N.W.2d 418, 420 n. 1 (Iowa 1994)). Notably, the court rejected an argument that it could use its rules of appellate procedure to cure a litigant's failure to timely file. Id. This again shows that jurisdiction of judicial review is solely a province of the statutory scheme in chapter 17A.

Historically, the courts have distinguished cases involving a district court's appellate jurisdiction from those invoking its original jurisdiction. *Anderson*, 524 N.W.2d at 420. Although judicial review proceedings are not a true "appeal," the courts treat them as appellate in nature and require statutory compliance to invoke district court *jurisdiction*. *Id*. at 421, n. 1. In contrast, other cases present a question of the court's authority to hear a particular case. *Id*. at 421, n. 2....

The Iowa Supreme Court order is captioned "Statute of Limitations." The order is within its authority to grant more time in original jurisdiction cases which it has authority to hear. However, the court cannot extend the court's jurisdiction to hear a chapter 17A appeal if filed 30 days following the agency's decision on an application for rehearing. (app. p. 169.) It is notable that the order does not reference judicial review actions or chapter 17A. The supreme court is well-aware of its precedent. It understood it could not extend jurisdiction in chapter 17A appeals. That would explain why it did not refer to that category of cases in its supervisory order....

For these reasons, the supreme court order did not toll the period to file this judicial review action. The court does not have jurisdiction of this matter. It must be dismissed.... (app. pp. 169-170.)

The district court, however, did not consider the advocacy made on Askvig's behalf that in certain circumstances, the supreme court has inherent powers to suspend or override statutes. (app. pp. 84-86.) These circumstances have included:

[T]he judiciary is vested with inherent power to do whatever is essential to the performance of its constitutional functions.... *Id.* "occasions not provided for by established methods.... [Only w]hen... [established methods

fail and the court shall determine that by observing them the assistance [was] necessary for the due and effective exercise of its own functions cannot be had or when an emergency arises which established methods cannot or do not instantly meet, and then does on occasion arise for the exercise of inherent power." State ex rel. Hillis v. Sullivan, 48 Mont., 320 N.W., 329, 137, P. 392, 395....

But a court should not be required to withhold utilizing inherent power until the court is incapacitated:

"We hold that the test of reasonableness does not require the trial judge to sit by until his court ceases to function before acting. We hold he is acting within reason when he takes steps to foreseeable difficulties which are imminently threatening the functions of his court." *McAfee v. State ex re. Stodola*, supra, 258 N.W.2d Ind. At 682, 284 N.E.2d, at 782....

This court further analyzed the judiciary's inherent power:

"The power is invested in the court. It is a part of its inherent power-a power necessary for its own protection and existence, essential to the administration of justice and the enforcement of the laws – finding its support in the same reasoning which authorizes a court to punish for contempt, to appoint ministerial or police officers to carry out its mandates and other similar acts. * * * Our courts are not thus powerless. The public business is not to be left thus to suffer. A court possessing such jurisdiction is not limited to the very letter of the character of its power. The charter gives it life. Of course, it has the right and power to preserve this life. The vital machinery cannot be kept in motion without officers... White v. Polk County, 17 Iowa 413, 414-415 (1864)

Webster County Board of Supervisors v. Flattery, 268 N.W.2d 869, 874-875 (Iowa 1978), [both bolding and underscores, *emph. supp.*]

As the supreme court noted in *Flattery*, at 877, "this court rarely has treated the subject of inherent judicial power..." Yet, in its *Flattery* decision, the supreme court displayed a range of situations in which its use was appropriate,

thereby quoting with approval from the appellate courts in other states, as well as from an Iowa supreme court decision. Thus, by at least analogy, the *Flattery* decision is applicable to this case.

It is because during March and April, 2020, the supreme court was aware that an "emergency" and "crisis" had arisen from a spread of coronavirus. (app. pp. 128, 130):

Following Governor Reynold's State of Public Health <u>Emergency</u> <u>Declaration</u> earlier today, [on 3/17/20], the Iowa Supreme Court issued an order permitting new ways to access courts to prevent the spread of the coronavirus.

"Maintaining public trust and confidence is of utmost importance to the judicial branch, and Iowa's judges stand ready to fulfill their duties," Chief Justice Susan Larson Christensen said. "However, in this time of **crisis**, the form in which this public service is provided must be modified in a manner that allows services to continue. We must keep our courts open to the fullest extent... (app. p. 128, both bolding & underscores, *emph. supp.*)

Since March 12, 2020, the Iowa Supreme Court has issued seven supervisory orders relating to the spread of the novel coronavirus/COVID-19. This [4/02/20] order combines all of those orders, only substantively changing the dates to reconvene court proceedings to reflect the extension of the ongoing State of Public Health Disaster Emergency and the Iowa Department of Public Health's anticipated peak of the virus... it extends the dates and dispensations concerning Iowa's courts to allow time

This order replaces all previous supervisory orders relating to the spread of the novel coronavirus/COVID-19 in their entirety. The Iowa Judicial Branch continues to carefully monitor the public health situation, balancing the need to take measures to reduce the spread of the virus with its commitment to conducting business as necessary. Accordingly, the supreme

court directs as follows pursuant to its available legal authority, including Article III, section 1 and Article V, section 1 of the Iowa Constitution....

STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS

33. **Tolled**. Any statute of limitations, statute of repose, or similar deadline for commencing an action in district court is hereby tolled from March 17 to June 1 (76 days). Tolling means that amount of time to the statute of limitations or similar deadline. So, for example, if the statute would run on April 8, 2020, it now runs on June 23, 2020 (76 days later). (app. pp. 130, 138, both bolding & underscores, *emph. supp.*)

By analogy, use of inherent power was applicable because by issuing its supervisory orders, the supreme court took "steps to forestall foreseeable difficulties which are imminently threatening the functions of the court...." Webster County Board of Supervisors v. Flattery, 268 N.W.2d 869, 875 (Iowa 1978), [quoting from Mcafee v. State ex. rel. Stodola, 258 Ind. 677, 682, 284 N.W.2d 778, 782 (1955). In this regard, attorneys are "officers" of the court and part of its "vital machinery." Id., quoting from White v. Polk County, 17 Iowa 413, 415 (1864).

That fact is of importance to resolution of this division's issue. It especially is because without a meaningful consideration of the supreme court's inherent power, the district court based its decision in part, on the following considerations:

Beyond this legal authority, there are practical distinctions between judicial review proceedings and original jurisdiction cases. The coronavirus crisis created real obstacles to filing and serving original actions. Attorneys had more difficulty meeting with clients and potential witnesses before filing an action. Service is complicated because process services may need to come into personal contact with defendants. These concerns do not apply to

judicial review cases. The attorneys and clients have already been through a contested case hearing and intra-agency appeal. The facts and arguments have already been developed. The decision to take the next step to judicial review does not require the same level of personal contact. Service can be made by regular mail, so personal contact can be completely avoided, Iowa Code § 17A.19(2). Even if the supreme could have and wanted to extend the time for filing judicial review actions, there would have been good reasons not to do so. (app. p. 153.)

Such distinctions, however, are not extant in the record evidence. (app. pp. 126-150.) In the supreme court's 3/17/20 document, the concerns related "public trust and confidence is of utmost importance to the judicial branch...." (app. p. 128.) In the 4/02/20 order, the supreme court's expressed concerns related to "the extensions of dates and dispensations in Iowa courts... and balancing the need to take measures to reduce the spread of the virus with its commitment to conducting business as necessary...." (app. p. 130.)

In its order 33, the heading was "STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS," and the wording, was "[a]ny statute of limitations, statute of repose, or <u>similar deadline</u>…" (app. p. 138, *emph. supp.*) The supreme court did not distinguish "between judicial review petitions and original jurisdiction cases" or how either kind of case were commenced in district court.

Moreover, order 33 really related just one type of member of the court system, namely its "officers" of the court, (attorneys), in addition to judges, clerks of courts, court attendants, court administrators, court reporters, etc.). It did

because it was only attorneys who filed cases within the statute of limitations, so as to maintain "public trust and confidence" in the judicial system.

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