IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

Appeal No. 20-0997

JENNIFER ANN ASKVIK,
Petitioner/Appellant

-v-

**SNAP-ON LOGISTICS COMPANY a/k/a SNAP-ON TOOLS
CORPORATION,**
Respondent/Appellee

**ON APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
IN AND FOR POLK COUNTY**

HONORABLE JEFFREY FARRELL, PRESIDING

LAW NO. CVCV060212

APPELLEE'S FINAL BRIEF

DAVIS, BROWN, KOEHN, SHORS &
ROBERTS, P.C.
215 10th Street, Suite 1300
Des Moines, Iowa 50309
Phone: (515) 288-2500
Facsimile: (515) 243-0654
Email: JoniPloeger@DavisBrownLaw.com

By: 

Joni L. Ploeger – AT0011390
ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLEE

**CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE WITH TYPEFACE
REQUIREMENTS AND TYPE-VOLUME LIMITATION**

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ERR IN RULING THAT ASKVIK'S PETITION WAS UNTIMELY AND THEREFORE BARRED UNDER IOWA CODE SECTION 17A.19(3).

Askvig admits that her Judicial Review Petition was untimely under Iowa Code section 17A.19(3). (Askvig Brief, pp. 23, 33). Instead, she argues that because she substantially complied with section 17A.19(3), this saves her action. (Askvig Brief, pp. 17-33). However, error was not preserved on the substantial compliance argument as discussed below. Even so, the substantial compliance doctrine is inapplicable to jurisdictional deadlines, like the one at issue in section 17A.19(3). Thus, Snap-on Tools respectfully requests that the District Court's Ruling be affirmed, concluding Askvig's Judicial Review Petition was barred by the jurisdictional deadline set forth in section 17A.19(3).

A. Preservation of Error.

While the issue of the timeliness of the judicial review action was preserved for error, Snap-on Tools disagrees that the substantial compliance legal argument was preserved for error. Although Askvig presented her substantial compliance argument to the District Court², this argument was

² Askvig presented her substantial compliance argument in her Resistance to Pre-Answer Motion to Dismiss. However, this Resistance was untimely.

never ruled on and Askvig never requested reconsideration. In fact, Askvig admits this argument was never considered by the District Court. (Askvig Brief, p. 17 (stating, “[c]onsequently, it did not consider the advocacy made on behalf of Askvig in her resistance’s page 1-22 [relating to her substantial compliance argument].”)).

“It is a fundamental doctrine of appellate review that issues must ordinarily be both raised *and* decided by the district court before we will decide them on appeal.” *Meier v. Seneca*, 641 N.W.2d 532, 537 (Iowa 2002) (citations omitted) (emphasis added). An appellate court cannot analyze an issue without the benefit of a full record from the lower court, including a decision on the issue. *Id.* When a district court fails to rule on a legal theory, a motion under Iowa Rules of Civil Procedure 1.904(2) is the proper means to preserve error. *Homan v. Branstad*, 887 N.W.2d 153, 161 (Iowa 2016) (citation omitted). When the issue involves a matter of law, it is not necessary that the party seeking to preserve error do so specifically via a 1.904(2) motion, but the undecided issue must still be raised again to the lower court for a decision before appeal, to preserve error. *Meier*, 641 N.W.2d at 537-541.

(*See App.*, p. 88). It was filed on July 3, 2020, more than 10 days after the Motion to Dismiss had been filed on June 5, 2020. Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.431(4). (*See App.*, pp. 50, 88).

In the Ruling, there is no mention of “substantial compliance” or the “pari materia” Iowa Code section 17A.19(2).³ (See App., pp. 166-70). This was a “red flag that the court had not decided the issue” and yet Askvig failed to file a motion to raise the issue again for a decision. See *UE Local 893/IUP v. State*, 928 N.W.2d 51, 61 (Iowa 2019) (noting the lack of any mention in a district court order as to a particular issue will mean error is not preserved unless the issue is brought before the district court again before an appeal is filed). When a substantial compliance argument is raised in the context of the issue of lack of jurisdiction under Iowa Code Chapter 17A.19, but not decided by the district court, the appealing party does not preserve error if it fails to raise the issue again with the lower court before appealing. See *Cooksey v. Cargill Meat Solutions Corp.*, 831 N.W.2d 94, 96-98 (Iowa 2013) (discussing error preservation on substantial compliance argument under section 17A.19(4)); *c.f.*, *Bruss v. Grout Scouts, Inc.*, 947 N.W.2d 683, FN 2 (Iowa Ct. App. 2020) (unreported) (noting error preservation on equitable estoppel argument under section 17A.19(2)).

³ Iowa Code section 17A.19(2) is only referenced once by Judge Farrell in his Ruling and it was in the context of Askvig’s argument as to whether the Iowa Supreme Court’s COVID-19 orders tolled the judicial review deadline. (App., p. 169). It was not referenced in the context of Askvig’s substantial compliance argument.

Thus, given the lack of ruling on the substantial compliance argument, as well as Askvig's failure to raise the argument again after the Ruling was entered and before an appeal was filed, it was not preserved for appeal.

B. Standard of Review.

When reviewing a district court's ruling on a motion to dismiss, this is for errors at law. Iowa R. App. P. 6.907; *Meier*, 641 N.W.2d at 537. The appellate court is not bound by the district court's application of legal principles or conclusions of law. *McCormick v. Meyer*, 582 N.W.2d 141, 144 (Iowa 1998). However, the appellate court is bound by findings of fact, if supported by substantial evidence. *Id.*

C. Iowa Code Section 17A.19(3) Bars Untimely Judicial Review Actions Due To Lack Of Subject Matter Jurisdiction.

The District Court concluded that Askvig's Judicial Review Petition was untimely. (App., pp. 166-67, 170). On February 25, 2020, Askvig filed a Rehearing Application, but no decision was issued, so it was deemed denied on March 16, 2020, twenty days after the application for rehearing was filed. (App., p. 166; *see* App., pp. 11, 174); Iowa Code § 17A.16(2); Iowa Administrative Code § 876-4.24. Askvig had thirty days, or until April 15, 2020 to file her Judicial Review Petition. Iowa Code §17A.19(3). She did not file her Judicial Review Petition until May 18, 2020, more than a month after the deadline to file a petition for judicial review had passed.

(App., p. 166). Because the judicial review deadline is jurisdictional, the District Court concluded that the untimely Judicial Review Petition barred the action and deprived the District Court of subject matter jurisdiction to hear the appeal under Iowa Code section 17A.19(3). (App., p. 167 (*citing Sharp*, 492 N.W.2d at 669)).

Section 17A.19(3) provides that a petition for judicial review must be filed within thirty days after an application for rehearing has been denied or deemed denied. An application for rehearing is deemed denied unless it is granted within twenty days after its filing. (App., p. 174); Iowa Code § 17A.16(2); Iowa Administrative Code § 876-4.24. “When the language of a statute is plain and its meaning clear, the rules of statutory construction do not permit [the court] to search for meaning beyond the statute’s express terms.” *Boehme v. Fareway Stores, Inc.*, 762 N.W.2d 142, 146 (Iowa 2009) (citation omitted). Section 17A.19(3) is clear and unambiguous -- a party “must” file a petition for judicial review within thirty days after a rehearing application has been deemed denied. Further, the unnumbered paragraph to section 17A.19 notes that the provisions are “the exclusive means by which a person or party who is aggrieved or adversely affected by the agency action may seek judicial review of such agency action.” Thus, it is also clear that the deadline for filing a petition for judicial review is jurisdictional. *See*

Cooper v. Kirkwood Cmty. Coll., 782 N.W.2d 160, 167-68 (Iowa Ct. App. 2010).

In *Cooper*, the Iowa Court of Appeals found that Iowa Code section 17A.19(3) was plain and clear that a party *must* file a judicial review petition timely, otherwise the district court lacks subject matter jurisdiction over the petition. *Id.* This is because judicial review is a right conferred by statute, so the procedure prescribed by statute must be followed otherwise jurisdiction is lost. *Id.*; *Kerr v. Iowa Pub. Serv. Co.*, 274 N.W.2d 283, 287 (Iowa 1979); *Ford Motor Co. v. Iowa Dep't of Transp.*, 282 N.W.2d 701, 703 (Iowa 1979). The Iowa Supreme Court has declined to expand the district court's jurisdiction in judicial review proceedings beyond the statutory time limits. *Sharp*, 492 N.W.2d at 669; *e.g.*, *Ford Motor Co.*, 282 N.W.2d at 703; *Tristan Constr., Inc. v. Iowa Workforce Dev.*, 810 N.W.2d 896, *2 (Iowa Ct. App. 2012); *The Chicago Athenaeum v. Emp't Appeal Bd.*, 711 N.W.2d 733, *1 (Iowa Ct. App. 2006) (unreported); *Langel v. Carroll Cnty.*, 2002 WL 1973142, *3 (Iowa Ct. App.) (unreported).

Askvig's attempt to argue the statute is ambiguous is contradictory when she readily admits her judicial review action was untimely under section 17A.19(3). (Askvig Brief, pp. 23, 33). She argues the word "means" in the unnumbered paragraph to section 17A.19 is ambiguous as it

relates to subject matter jurisdiction. (Askvig Brief, pp. 20-23). Yet, the term “means” has already been interpreted that the judicial review procedures in section 17A.19 are the “exclusive means” by which a party can file for judicial review and properly vest jurisdiction with the district court, as admitted by Askvig. (Askvig Brief, p. 19) (*citing Kerr*, 274 N.W.2d at 286-88; *Ford Motor Co.*, 282 N.W.2d at 702-03; *Black v. Univ. of Iowa*, 362 N.W.2d 459, 462 (Iowa 1985); *Fort Dodge Sec. Police v. Iowa Dep’t of Revenue*, 414 N.W.2d 666, 670 (Iowa 1987); *Sharp*, 492 N.W.2d at 669-70). This is so because district courts do not have original jurisdiction, but rather limited, appellate jurisdiction; in other words, because the right to judicial review is “conferred by statute,” the procedures set forth by the Iowa Legislature in section 17A.19(3) must be followed. *Black*, 362 N.W.2d at 462; *Kerr*, 274 N.W.2d at 287. Because Askvig admits she did not follow those procedures/deadlines, she did not properly vest the District Court with subject matter jurisdiction.

Further, Askvig attempts to argue that “means” can be interpreted as referring to injunctions or declaratory order actions, but this has no applicability to the case at bar; Askvig did not file an appeal by these other “means” but attempted to do so by filing a judicial review petition. (Askvig Brief, pp. 20-21). “Thus, because petitioners treated this case as judicial

review of a contested case, we determine petitioners were bound by the time requirements for judicial review set forth in § 17A.19(3).” *Fort Dodge Sec. Police*, 414 N.W.2d at 670 (citations omitted). Even if she had tried appealing via an injunction or declaratory order, the procedures set forth in section 17A.19(3) must still be followed. *See Kerr*, 274 N.W.2d at 286 (concluding there was no jurisdiction for the court to entertain an injunction proceeding when the judicial review statute applied). Yet again, Askvig failed to file her Judicial Review Petition within thirty days after her rehearing application was deemed denied, which she admits. (Askvig Brief, pp. 23, 33).

Because Askvig filed her Judicial Review Petition after the jurisdictional deadline in section 17A.19(3), the District Court was correct that it lacked subject matter jurisdiction over the matter and dismissed the case. The District Court’s Ruling should be affirmed on appeal.

D. Substantial Compliance Does Not Save A Judicial Review Action That Is Otherwise Barred For Lack Of Jurisdiction.

Askvig admits her judicial review action was untimely, but she argues she substantially complied with the statute when she filed her Judicial Review Petition over a month late. Assuming error was preserved on this issue, which Snap-on Tools denies, the merits of this argument are addressed below.

Askvig acknowledges that Iowa Code section 17A.19(3) has not been interpreted to permit substantial compliance; she argues this is contrary to substantial compliance being permitted for section 17A.19(2), a substantially similar section, and the contradiction should be re-examined. (Askvig Brief, pp. 17-18 (stating, “[i]t further is believed that it is time to re-examine how historically one subsection allows substantial compliance, and the other does not.”)).

The substantial compliance doctrine is defined as the “rule that if a good-faith attempt to perform does not precisely meet the terms of an agreement or statutory requirements, the performance will still be considered complete if the essential purpose is accomplished.” BLACK’S LAW DICTIONARY (11th ed. 2019), *available at* Westlaw. In other words, if there is substantial, not literal, compliance with the statute, then that is all that is necessary for jurisdiction. *Logan*, 943 N.W.2d at 10 (citation omitted). It has been recognized in the context of section 17A.19(2) (notice) since 1980 and section 17A.19(4) (caption and pleading). *Id.* at 10-11 (relating to notice issues); *Ortiz v. Loyd Roling Const.*, 928 N.W.2d 651, 654 (Iowa 2019) (relating to notice issues); *Cooksey*, 831 N.W.2d at 96-98 (relating to caption and pleading issues). However, the doctrine has not been applied to the deadline for filing a judicial review action under section 17A.19(3).

After a diligent search, the undersigned could find no cases applying the substantial compliance doctrine to section 17A.19(3), in the context of an untimely judicial review petition, and Askvig cites to no authority. This makes sense because district courts do not have original jurisdiction, but rather limited, appellate jurisdiction of judicial review actions; in other words, because the right to judicial review is “conferred by statute,” the procedures set forth by the Iowa Legislature in section 17A.19 must be followed. *Black*, 362 N.W.2d at 462; *Kerr*, 274 N.W.2d at 287. Further, “jurisdiction does not attach, nor is it lost, on equitable principles. It is purely a matter of statute.” *Tristan Constr., Inc.*, 810 N.W.2d 896 at *2 (citing *Cunningham v. Iowa Dep’t of Job Serv.*, 319 N.W.2d 202, 204 (Iowa 1982) (rejecting argument of substantial compliance relating to rehearing process)). The Iowa Supreme Court has previously noted that while a court has some latitude in upholding an appeal on substantial compliance grounds, “this principle does not permit a court to extend the time within which an appeal may be taken.” *Waterloo Civic Ctr. Hotel Co. v. Bd. of Review*, 451 N.W.2d 489, 491 (Iowa 1990).

Although substantial compliance has been applied to sections 17A.19(2) (notice) and 17A.19(4) (caption and pleading), these sections do not deal with judicial review deadlines, like section 17A.19(3). A failure to

timely file an appeal affects the entire validity of the appeal, whereas the failure to perfect procedural steps related to the appeal do not; while the court may have discretion to “overlook procedural variations” to avoid harsh results when there is no prejudice, that is not so with untimely appeals. 5 AM. JUR. 2d Appellate Review § 748, *available at* Westlaw (noting that under the Federal Rules of Appellate Procedure, a failure to file a timely appeal affects the validity of the appeal, but the failure to take other procedural steps may not warrant dismissal). Appeal deadlines are in a class of their own. Failure to timely appeal is a jurisdictional defect and a complete bar to an action. *Jensen v. State*, 312 N.W.2d 581, 582 (Iowa 1981). In fact, the court can on its own raise the issue of timeliness of an appeal to dismiss an appeal proceeding. *Id.*

While the purpose of the Iowa Administrative Procedures Act is to “simplify the process of judicial review of agency action, as well as to increase its ease and availability,” it is also to “strike a fair balance between these purposes and the need for efficient, economical and effective government administration.” Iowa Code § 17A.1(3), (4). Strict enforcement satisfies the purpose of the statute because it avoids uncertainty. *See Christiansen v. Iowa Bd. of Educ. Exam’r*, 831 N.W.2d 179, 190 (Iowa 2013) (noting the underlying policies of section 17A.19(3) include a need

for finality); *Sioux City Brick & Tile Co. v. Emp't Appeal Bd.*, 449 N.W.2d 634, 638 (Iowa 1989). “Parties to the proceedings have a need for and a right to a prompt disposition of a dispute...Regrettable hardships may well result to litigants who are unaware of the ‘deemed denied’ provision of the statute. But it is in the over-all interests of litigants and the public at large that administrative proceedings move to a prompt conclusion.” *Ford Motor Co.*, 282 N.W.2d at 703.

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